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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ANDREW P. MOORE,
Plaintiff,

V. Civil Action No. 14-2109JDB)

JULIAN CASTRO, Secretary, U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban
Development, et al.

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Andrew Moore, an AfricasAmerican man over 62 years old, alleges that his former
employer, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HWas% dozens of adverse
actions against him because of his race, gender, and age, as well asatiorefak filing a
complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commiss{tiBEOC”). The alleged
discrimination and retaliationccurred in 2014 during Moore’s brief employment anbininated
in Moore’stermination HUD respods that none of Moore’s nine causes of action (which include
claims against HUD employees in their individual capacities) state a claim updnnelet can
be granted. And evehthey do, HUD moves fasummary judgment in the altextive. The Court
will grant defendantsimotion to dismiss all of Moore’s claims against the individual defendants
and grant in part the motion to dismiss Moore’s claims against HUD. Moore hakatatem
based on certain discrete aeimcluding his terminatior-for discrimination and retaliation in
violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (“Title VII"), 42 U.S.C. § 200@é&seg.and

the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”R9 U.S.C. § 62%t seq. He has also
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sufficiently alleged aclaim for hostile work environment. However, only his hostile work
environment clainunder the ADEAsurvives HUD’s alternative motion for summary judgment.
FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Moore’s narrativebegins with his selection as a Presidential Management Fellowship
(PMF) Finalist by the @ice of Personnel Mnagement Am. Compl. [ECF No. 12J/27. The
PMF program is an entrywawto federal governmergmploymentfor individuals who have
recently reeived advanced degreeSee5 C.F.R. § 362.403(b). Agencies may consider finalists
for appointment to two-year positionSeeid. 88 362.403(f), 362.404).

On March 10, 2014, believinhat as a PMF finalisthe had been offeredraanagement
position commensurate with his business education background, Moore attended a job fair in
Washington, D.C.where federahgenciesonducted interviews to recruit and hire PMF finalists
for two-year positions.SeeAm. Compl. I 28.Moore was interviewed by a megter fromHUD
for a “management position” #te agencys regional office in Fort WortiTexas. Id. According
to Moore, the responsibilities of the position included the management of HUD houwsitgayrd
vouchers.Id. He “was extremely happy antheed for this wonderful opportunity to train [and]
work in management and had great expectations of continued employment with the Federal
Government.”1d. 1 29. But those great expectations were soon dashed.

On March 19, 2014, Moore received a “tentative job offer” from HUD for the position of
“Presidential Management Fellow (PMF)d. 1 30. Hewas therpresentedvith a “firm job offer’
as a construction specialistompensated &S 11 which he accepted believing it to be his

“targeted position.”ld. 1 33, 35. He began work at HUD on Af2dl, 2014.1d. 1 36. But instead

1 Unless otherwise indicated, these facts are as alleged by MbleeeCourt has done its best to
distill Moore’s version of events from his complaint, which ofteanbs facts with legal conclusions, jumps
backward andorward in time, and is rife with internal inconsistencies.
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of a management position, Moore was assigned to work as a building inspagtdr for which

he had no background or qualificatior@eeid. 1146-47. And while Moore, who haan extensive
background in business administration, was pressed into service as a building instreat®MF

employees, with less management experience, were assigned a higher @aldgrd3.

Moore now contendthat HUD singled him out and intgionally discriminated against
him by “deceiv[ing] him into believing that he would be offered a legitimate Presidential
Management Felloyosition” Id.  126(a). Insteadhe assertshe government extendedhon
a fraudulent job offer for position that did not existld.  34. Then once Moore had accepted
the offer, the government pushed him into a “construction analyst” pqstiofi 36, where it
continued its discriminatory campaighd. 1160, 65. Having deceived Moore into acdeym a
position for which he was unqualified, HUD “used its UP{liform Physical Condition
Standard] Inspectio@ertificationTraining Program as a tool to discriminate against Moole.”
147.

HUD also allegedlyisolated Moore from other PMF employes in myriad ways. For
example, HUD refusedo issue Moore an “official acceptance lettepfevented him from
attending scheduled PMF events and activiiadforced him to travel and work “out in the fi€ld.
Id. 1 60. In the meantime, HUD treaté&MF empbyees who were female, not African American
and younger than Moore more favorablgy not taking these same actions against themnq
61, 66. Moore also suffered at the handsisfsupervisors. Defendant Brian Ruth, Moore’s
second line supeisor, “shouted” at him on his first day at workd. 1172, 84 Defendant Dilip
Pate] Moore’s first line supervisofyerbally reprimanded, humiliated, degraded and embarrassed
Moore in front of a building inspector and othersd. 1 72, 86. And éfendant Jose Bosque

Perez'escalated the situation to the point where Moore began cryidgf 92.



On June 10, 2014, Moore complained thdter PMF employees were edang better
treatment than he wasd that he was being subjected to a hostile work environnhgnf. 70.
But things did not improve; they got worse. Moore’s first and second line superaisibtise
HUD PMF coordinator “refU®d to assist him to complete #DP [individual development plan]”
such that Moore was forced to complete his IDP aldshef[f 7273. It was subsequently rejected.
Id. § 73. And rather than execute a written PMF Participant Agreement for Maosepirvisors
provided him with a “virtually blank Participant Agreement form that containechmat’i from
his supervisors or human resourcks In addition,in July 2014, rather than transfer Moore from
what he complained was a hostile work environment, HUD forced him to work from Hdme.
1 76. Moreover, from June through September, Patel, Ruth, and defendant Delton Niclaas “m
offensive and insulting remarks or comments suggesting that Moore worked too slengdsuff
from memory loss, had a learning inability, and could not sufficiently comprehend tlheseger
in the UPCS Inspeahn Certification Training because of his agdd” { 88.

The situatiorfinally culminated in Moore’s discharge from employment on September 24,
2014. Id. 1 107. Moore alleges that hidotice of Termination “is inundated with false trumped
up charge$ including that Moore engaged in misconduct, failed to read his emails and weekly
assignments, was observed sleeping on duty, failed to follow instructions, did not camtact hi
supervisors for assistance, and did not display a positive attikthdf113. According to Moore,
HUD retained other PMF employees who were female, younger, amdrieatn American Id.
1 108.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
On October 29, 2014, and November 12, 2014, Moore filed two formal Equal Employment

Opportunity (EEOxromplairts charging HUD with race and sex discrimination, retaliation, hostile



work environment, and discriminatory andatetory discharge.ld. § 19. He raised his age
discrimination claim with the EEOC on October 16, 2014, when he filed a notice of inser. to
Id. § 17. Believing his administrative remedies to be exhausted, Moore now brings tha$ fede
lawsuit. His amended complairalleges nine causes of actioifihe first five allege thadUD
Secretary Julian Castro (hereinafter, H@iBcriminated gainst Moore based on his age, gender,
and race, and retaliated against him in violatbthe ADEAand Title VII. Specifically, Counts

| and 1l allege dist of twentyfour discriminatory actions taken against Moofeount Il asserts
retaliationbased on many of the same discrete incide@unt IV asserts discriminatory and
retaliatoryhostile work environment.And Count V clains that Moore’s termination was also
discriminatory and retaliatory.

His othercauses of action allege thainhe ndividual defendantsconspired to obstruct
justice in violation o42 U.S.C. § 1985(2) (Count VI); conspired to deprive Moore of his rights
and privileges in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1985(3) (Count;\Ahd engaged in a pattern of
racketeering activity irviolation of 18 U.S.C. 8 1962(c) (Count VIII). Moore also brirsgst
against four of these individuals fomegligence to prevent conspirdag violationof 42 U.S.C.

§ 1986 (Count VII).

On August 11, 2015, the defendants fited motion to dismiss or, in the alternative, for
summary judgmenthat is now before the CouriThey sought to dismiss all nine counts of the
conplaint either under Rule 12(b)(6or failure to $ate a claim or under Rule 56 sammary
judgment. Plaintifhasopposed the motion, and ha@mplained generally that hedvaot yet had
the opportunity to undertake discoveriie alsohas filed a motion to disqualify the presiding

judge.



ANALYSIS
The Court must begin by resolving Moore’s motion for disdiicaition Concluding that
recusal is not warrantethe Court will go on to assesa$ether Moore’s complaint states a claim
that survivesHUD’s 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.Upon identifyingthose claimghat survive
12(b)(6) dismissal, the Countll proceed to determine whether summary judgment is proper.

l. Motion to Disqualify

Moorefiled a motion to disqualify thendersigned judgéom further involvement in this
matter. Thatmotion, opposed by defendanfecuses on three incidents: (1) the Court’s “scathing
admonition” of Moore at a status conference; (2) the Court’s denial of Moore’s motion for a
discovery conference while a dispoge motion was pending; and (3) the Court’s striking of his
surreply. Pl.’s Mot. to Disqualify [ECF No. 53] at 1-2.

Under 28 U.S.C. 8§ 4%8), a judge “shall disqualify himself in any proceeding in which his
impartiality might reasonably be questionedNo “reasonable and informed observer” would
guestion this Cour$’ impartality based on the Court’s statements in open catuthe June 10,

2015, status conference&seeUnited States vCordova 806 F.3d 1085, 1092 (D.C. Cir. 2015)

(internal quotation marks omittedn advance of that status conference, Moore submittedsmai
sent between opposing counsel and himself. Rbtgce of Filing Dos. [ECF No. 14] at42; see

Ex. Eto Pl.’s Notice of Filing DocdECF No. 145] (accusing government counsel of harassment,
intimidation, and an attempt to corrupt the coutdaving viewed the content dfiose exhibits,

the Court expressed cmern alout their tone. SeeTr. [ECF No. 56]at 4:225:18. The Court
encouraged Moore “to be civil,” show “respect and courtesy,” avoid “accusations and other
hyperbole,” and “be mindful of what the other side is charged with doildy."This exchange

does not suggest that the Cosirimpartiality might reasonably be questioneSeelLiteky v.



United States510 U.S. 540, 555 (1994)[J]udicial remarks . . . that are critical or disapying
of, or even hostile to, counsel, the parties, or their cases, ordinarily do not support a bias or

partiality chdlenge.”); accordCzekalski v. LaHood, 589 F.3d 449, 457 (D.C. Cir. 2008r can

thejudicial rulingsin this casdorm the basis for a recusal motioBeeLiteky, 510 U.S. at 55
(“[J]udicial rulings alone . . . can only in the rarest circumstances evidencegtiee @é favoritism

or antagonismrequired for recusal, accordUnited States v. Hite769 F.3d 1154, 1172 (D.C.

Cir. 2014). The Court will therefore deny Moorerstionfor disqualification

[l. Motion to Dismiss

A. Legal Standard

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) provides for the dismissal of an adten &
complaint fails “to state a claim upon which relief can be grantédd survive a motion to
dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as tistaida claim to

relief that is plausible on its face.Ashcroft v. Igbal556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBell Atl.

Corp. v. Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (200)7) At this stage, the Court muassume the truth of

all well-pleaded factual allegations and construe reasonable inferenceséreenatlegations in

plaintiff' s favor. Sissel v. U.S. Dep'of Health & Human Servs760 F.3d 1, 4 (D.CCir. 2014).

But the Court need not accept as true “a legal conclusion couched as a factual allegati&m,” nor

inference unsupportdal the facts set forth in th@mplaint. _Trudeau v. FTC, 456 F.3d 178, 193

(D.C. Cir. 2006) (quotingPapasan v. Allaid78U.S. 265, 286 (1986) (internal quotation marks

omitted)). Although a plaintiff may survive a 12(b)(6) motion even if “recovery is very remote
and unlikely,” the facts alleged in the complaint “must be enough to raise a righetabelve

the speculative level. Twombly, 550 U.S. at 555-Ftternal quotation marks omitted)



Beforeassessing/loore’s complaint, it is important to note th@b separties generally

deserve leeway in their pleadindsee, e.gRichardson v. United Statel93 F.3d 545, 548 (D.C.

Cir. 1999) (“Courts must constryeo sefilings liberally.”); Voinche v. FB) 412 F.Supp.2d 60,

70 (D.D.C.2006) (“This Court gives pro gmrties the benefit of the doubt and may ignore some
technical shortcomings of their figs”). HUD argues that Moore is not entitled to this benefit of
the doubt given his extensive litigation experieAcBefs.’ Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss
[ECF No. 242] at 8-9. HUD, however, cites no authority for the proposition that a litiggros
selitigant should be treated differently from other preadies. The Court therefore will construe
Moore’s complaint under the liberal standard that governs pomplaints. SeeSparrow v.
Reynolds 646 F. Supp. 834, 8387 (D.D.C. 1986)“A pro selitigant, even one as experienced
as plaintiff, is entitled to have his complaint construed most libedallyOf course, gro se

complaint must still “present a claim on which the court can grant rel@iandler v. Roche, 215

F. Supp. 2d 166, 168 (D.D.C. 2002)ere,the Court'is limited to considering facts alleged in the
complaint, any documents attached to or incorporated in the complaint, matters oheldohrt

may take judicial notice, and matters of public recofiéglder v. Joharg)595 F.Supp.2d 46, 58

(D.D.C. 2009) (citingEEOC v. St. Francis Xavier Parochial Sd17 F.3d 621, 624 (D.Cir.

1997)).
B. Moore’s Claims Against Individual Defendants
The Court will begin with the easier task of addressing Moore’s claims againstual

defendants.These claims are meritleaaxiliary attempts to pursue what is really an employment

2Moore has filed at least eigptior lawsuits. SeeDefs.” Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Dismiss
[ECF No. 242] at 8 (citingMoore v. Potter, No. 3:0€V-1057-J32HTS, 2006 WL 2092277, at
* 1 (M.D. Fla. July 26, 2006), where the court noted that Moore had filed seven prior taatsuit
that time.




discrimination lawsuit. Title VIl is the “exclusiypre-emptive administrative and judicial scheme

for the redress of federal employment discriminatioBrown v. Gen. Servs. Admij425 U.S.

820, 829(1976);seeRogler v. Biglow, 610 F. Supp. 2d 103, 105 (D.D.C. 2qa8)ding Title VII

is the exclusive “remedy for fedal employees who are retaliated against for participating in
EEOC proceedings”). Because Title VII is the exclusive remedy for federal employment
discriminationor retaliation it is clearly established that aggrieved individuals cannot pursue
redressdr these harms under 42 U.S.CL985(3) which provides a civil cause of action against

persons who conspire to deprive “any person or class of persons of the equal protdtion of

laws, or of equal privileges and immunities under the la&€at Am Fed. Savs. & Loan AS$’

v. Novotny 442 U.S. 366, 3781979) Moore’s § 1985(3) claim therefore cannot proceed as a
matter of law.
The Court sees no reason why the same logic should not bar Moore’slatmsiagainst

the individual defendantsSeeEthnic Ems. of the Library of Congress v. Boorstin51 F.2d

1405, 1415 (D.CCir. 1985) (“[F]ederal employees may not bring suit under the Constitution for

employment discrimination that is actionable under Title."y/lIBrug v. Nat'| Coal.for the

Homeles, 45 F. Supp.2d 33, 42 (D.D.C1999) (holding that federal employee was precluded

from bringing claims of constitional violations under § 19833ge als@Brown v. Potter, No.

4:05-CV-584 (CEJ), 2006 WL 416066, at *2 (E.D. Mo. Feb. 21, 2q@&missing all claims,
including RICO claimsbrought by plaintiff under any statute or law other than Title VII). But
even if this doctrine didot extend to Moore’s claims under 42 U.S.C. 88 1985(2)1886, and

18 U.S.C. § 1962(¢}hose claimsnuststill be dismissed on alternageounds’

3 The Court recognizes that the individual defendants have argued itetimatale that the Court
lacks personal jurisdiction over theefs.’ Mem. at $—37. Neverthelesghe Court determines thatia
interest of judicial economy is served by reaching the meritgle@bre’s] claims. . .rather than delaying
the inevitablé by allowing him to file another lawsuit containing the same meritiessis. McManus v.
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1. Claim under § 1985(2)
The first clause of § 1985(2) “prohibits conspiracies to interfere with the intedribe

federal judicial system.’'McCord v. Bailey636 F.2d 606, 614 (D.Cir. 1980). To state a claim

under this provision of § 1985(2), “a plaintiff must allege (1) a conspiracy between tworer
persons, (2) to deter a party, witness or juror from attending or testifying inater pending in

any court of the United States, whicl) (8sults in injury to the plaintiff. Gravess. United States

961 F. Supp. 314, 319 (D.D.C. 1997).

Moore alleges broadly that defendants conspired to “deter him by intimidation and
retaliation from attending this court and testifying to the mattersisfdase freely, fully, and
truthfully, injure in his person or property for having attended these court progeedimd to
obstruct,impede or hinder the due course of justice.” Am. CoMmidR3. Few factual spefics
are offered.These conclusory allegations are insufficienstate alaim. Seelgbal,556 U.S. at
678 (“A pleading that offerslabels and conclusioher ‘a formulaic recitation of the elements of
a cause of action will not dé(quoting Twombly,550 U.S. at 55§. The only specific allegations
that vaguely relate tany obstruction of justice arise in the context of Moore’s EEO administrative
proceeding. Am. Compf 126(k). But “administrative proceedings under Title VIl do not
constitute a court proceeding for the purposes of 8§ 1985Gaves 961 F. Suppat 319-2Q The
Court will therefore dismiss thislaim.

2. Claim under § 1986

Section 1986 imposes civil liabilitpn anyone who knowingly fails to prevent the

commission of a conspiracy prohibited $y1985. 42 U.S.C. § 1986. Thus,§1986 claimis

derivative of a § 1985 claim. plaintiff who has not statka claim under § 1985 has no basis for

District of Columbia 530 F. Supp. 2d 46, 68 (D.D.C. 200af);Simpkins v. District of Columbig 08 F.3d
366, 36970 (D.C. Cir. 1997).
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relief under § 1986 Wilson v. U.S. Deg'of Transp. 759 F. Supp. 2d 55, 6@3 (D.D.C. 2011)

seeHerbin v. Hoeffe|No. 99-7244, 2000 WL 621304t*1 (D.C.Cir. Apr. 6, 2000)per curiam)

Having dismissed Moore’s 3985 claim the Court must also dismiss 84986 claim.
3. RICO claim
To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, plaintiffs bringiry1®62(c) claim must
allege“(1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of rackegeactivity.” W.

Assocs. Ltd. P’ship v. Mkt. Square Assocs., 235 F.3d 629, 633 (D.C. Cir.(@weinal quotation

marks omitted) Among the predicate acts constituting “ragle¥ng activity” undeg 1962(c) are
mail fraud and wirerbud. Seel8 U.S.C. § 1961(1)Moore claims that a group of HUD employees
constituted an enterprise that operated with the purpose to defraud Moore, commitkaagt‘at
seven predicate acts” mail @rd, wire fraud, honest services fraud, involuntary servitude,
tampering with a party, obstruction of federal court proceedargsuse of the mails to carry out
unlawful activity. Am. Compl. 19 138.44. Specifically he alleges, defendants “devisedltiple
schemes . . . to defraud Moore” by, among other thprgsenting him with a fraudulent firm job
offer, placing him in a nomanagemerngosition, preventing him from working at his duty station,
and forcing him irto involuntary servitudeld. Y 146.

HUD responds that Moore’s “attempt to fit the everyday tribulations of @mnt . . .
into the rubric of a RICO claim is ridiculous” and concludes that the “causéi@f &cfrivolous.”
Defs.” Reply [ECF No. 40&t 28-29. TheCourt agreethat Maore’s RICO claim cannot survive.
“Congress enactedl®62(c), and RICO generally, ‘to target the exploitation and appropriation

of legitimate business by corrupt individudisBates v. Nw. Human Servs., 466 F. Supp. 2d 69,

78 (D.D.C. 2006) (quotmYellow Bus Lines, Inc. v. Drivers, Chauffeurs & Helpers Local Union

639,883 F.2d 132, 139 (D.Cir. 1989)) Moore’s lawsuit has nothing to do with an injury to his

11



commercial business. It has everything to do with an employretatéd injury. The remedy for
Moore’s complaints is Title V]land his attempt to shoehorn his discrimination and retaliation
claims into a RICO claim ignavailing Hence, his RICO claim will be dismissed.

Moreover,the RICO claim fails becaus®oore has notsufficiently pled a pattern of
racketeering activity Among the factors courts consider when evaluating whether the plaintiff has
established such a pattern are “the number of unlawful acts, the length of timenmrethe acts
were committed, the similarity of trects, the number of victims, the number of perpetrators, and

the character of the unlawful activityBdmondson &Gallaghe v. Alban Towers Tenants Ass’n

48 F.3d 1260, 1265 (D.C. Cir. 1998nternal quotation marks omittedWhen defendants are
accusd of engaging in “a single scheme” with a “single injurgfld few victims’it is “virtually
impossible for plaintiffs to state a RICO claimld. Moore has pleaded a “pattern” consisting of
a singlealleged scheme (to prevent Moore from participating in and completing the PMF
program); a single injury (Moore’s loss of his PMF position and related benefitbg aingle
victim (Moore). Even tking all of plaintiff's assertions as true, and assuming thatlbgquately
pleaded the required predicate actsstile has failed to plead a pattern of racketeering activity.

SeeE. Sav. Bank, FSB v. Papageorge, 629 F. Afp2 (D.C. Cir. 2015).

C. Moore’s Claims Against HUD

The Court isthus left with the core ofMoore’s lawsui—his claims that HUD took
retaliatory and discriminatory action agaihsh in violation of Title VII and the ADEA.Recall
that Moore alleges disparate treatment because of age in violation of the ADEA (Gount |
disparate treatment becausf race and sex in violation of Title VII (Count Il); retaliation in

violation of Title VIl and the ADEA(Count Ill); discriminatory and retaliatory hostile work
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environment in violation of Title VIl antheADEA (Count IV); and discriminatory and retaiory
discharge in violation of Title VIl and the ADEA (Count V).
1. Exhaustion
Before suing under eithdritle VII or the ADEA, an aggrieved party must exhaust his

administrative remediesWashington v. WashMetro. Area Transit Auth.160 F.3d 750, 752

(D.C. Cir.1998). HUD argues that several of Moore’s claims have not been praopdrjusted.
Defs.” Mem. at 1718 Some, HUD argues, were presented to the EEDt not in compliance
with the statutory deadlines. Othedr)D assertswere not presented to the EE@Cal.

Under Title VII, a federal employelas 45 dayfrom thedate of the matter alleged to be
discriminatoryor retaliatoryto make contact with an EEOC counselor and 180 flaysthe filing
of the initial chargeto file an official charge. See 42 U.S.C. §2000e16(c); 29 C.F.R.
8 1614.105(a)(1).Underthe ADEA, a federal employee may bring the claim directly to fédera

court if he gives at least 2lays notice to the EEOC of hiatent to sue anfiles thatnotce within

180 days after the alleged discriminatory condi8.U.S.C. § 633a(d); Proud v. United States
872 F. 2d 1066, 1067 (D.C. Cir. 1989).
Importantly, an employee must exhaust the administrative procesadtodiscrete act for

which he seeks tbring a claim. SeeNat'| R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morg&36 U.S. 101, 113

15 (2002) seealsoColton v. Clinton Civ. No.09-1772, 2010 WL 3940994, at *3 (D.D.C. Sept.

27, 2010)(notice of intent to sue must include allegation of “discrete act” at issndylorgan,
the Supreme Court held thdiscrete discriminatory actare not actionable if time barred, even
when they are related to acts alleged in timely filed chaigash discrete discriminatory act starts
a new clock for filing charges alleging that &ct636 U.S.at 113 Excluding his termination,

Moore has listed twentfour separate acthat he alleges constituted unlawful discriminatoon
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the basis of age, gender, and rae. has listedrtese incidents alphabetically, (a) through (x).
order to account for the many discriminatocysaalleged, the Court will empldyoore’s labeling
throughout this opinion.

Determining whether Moore exhausted the administrative process for eaclkseftie
requiresseparate analysis of Moore’s Tid@l claims (Count Il) and his ADEA claims (Cotb
because he pursued two differadministrative processes.

a. Title VIl claims

“A plaintiff' s purported failure to exhaust administrative remedies is analyzed under Fed.

R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) for failureo state a claim. Bowe-Connor v. Shinseki, 845 F. Supp. 2d 77, 85

(D.D.C. 2012). The government contends that the Court should dismiss oivbleere’s claims
alleging race and gender discrimination because they were not timelytpdesethe EEOGnNd
six more because they were “never presehtBefs.” Mem. atl7-18.

Moorefirst contacedHUD’s EEOOffice onJuly 18, 2014 Am. Compl.{ 71. Hence, any
discriminatory action that occurréefore June 3, 2014-45 days prior to Jul§8, 2014—was not
timely presented to the EEOffice. According to HUD, this includes Moore’s claims arising out
of his “fraudulent” job offer? which occurred on April 8, 2014.

But HUD has notaccountedor Moore’s allegation that it was not untipril 21, 2014, that
hebegan to realize that he had not in fact been hired for his “target” position. Anpl.Gpo86.

And it was a week after thadn April 28,whenMoore was explicitly informed that he was being

4In particular: claimlf) that HUD presented Moore with fraudulent tem@tand firm job offers;
claim (d)that HUD refused to issue Moore an official acceptance letter; claithgeHUD refused to
assign Moore to a GS level pay grade consistent with his qualifications;(k)atinat HUD forced Moore
into a Quality Assuance Inspector position; ¢ (j) that HUD refused to assigMoare responsibilities
that wereconsistent withhis qualifications; and claim (that HUD assigned Moore responsibilities that
were inconsistent with his qualifications. Am. Compl. § 60.
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tasked with the position of a building inspector, “which required a solid background, knowledge,
and extensive experience in conducting building inspectiolas.f 87. These dates are relevant
because the 48ay time period only “begins to riwmhen an employee has a reasonable suspicion

of a discriminatory actioi. Adesalu v. Copp$06 F.Supp.2d 97, 102 (D.D.C2009)(internal

guotation marks omittedee?29 C.F.R. § 161405(a)(2);see alstewart v. Ashcroft, 352 F.3d

422, 42526 (D.C. Cir. 2003) But evengiving Moore the benéfof thelater date—at which point
he knew or should have known about the alleged discriminatory aetinresult is the same
because April 28 is also outside thedty time frame. Hence, Mooretaims arising out of the
April 8 fraudulengob offer were untimely filed andre timebarred Moore’sotherclaims arising
out of discreteeventson April 21, April 28, May 12, and May 2@ere similarly untimely filed
with the EEOC

HUD further asserts that Moore failed to exhaust six of his claimrace and gender
discrimination—largely grievances related to training and Moore’s individual developpfemt
because theinderlyingacts were never presented to HEOC Only those claims that are
contained in the administrative complaint can be raised in a Title VIl lawSegNurriddin v.
Goldin, 382 F. Supp. 2d 79298 (D.D.C. 2005) (dismissing claims that were not raised before

the EEOC) aff'd, 222 Fed. App'x 5 (D.C. Cir. 2007). Having reviewed Moore’'s EEOC

5In particular: claimf) thatHUD ordered Moore to never report to his duty station, which occurred
on April 21, 2014, Am. Compl. 1 83; claim (that HUD forced Moore to travel to Georgia and work out
in the field, which occurred during the week of April, 2814 ,id. 1 86; claim ¢§) that HUD forced Moore
to travel thousands of miles baakdforth from Texas to Washington, D.C., which occurredrmto May
18, 2014id. 1 91; claimqu) and ) that HUD prevented Moore from attending scheduled PMF events and
isolated him from his féedw PMFs, which arise out of events that occurred on May 12, 12@&rizD14,
id. 11 89 92. ntraryto the government’s argumenhese unexhausted claims nd include claim (w)
that HUD ordered Moore to work from home against his will, whielallggesoccurred in July 2014ld.
1 76.
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complaints® the Court agreesith the government for the most partd will dismiss fiveof these
six claims’ Claim (0), howeverthat HUD discriminated againstoorewhen it refused to assign
him a mentor in managementas presented to the EEOGeeEx. 41to Pl.’s Opp’'nto Defs’
Mot. to Dismis§ECF 313] at26, 28, 30.
b. ADEA claims

Although Moore began by pursuing his age discrimination claims througkE@C
administrativgorocessseeEx. Y toDefs.” Notice of Filing Exs. [ECF No. 23] at 46 (referred to
in plaintiff’'s amended complaint § 71)e did not include tree claimsan his formal complaint of
race and sexiscrimination filedwith the EEOC. SeeEx. 41 to Pl.’s Opp’n to Defs.” Mot. to
Dismissat 24-31. Instead hesubmitted a Notie of Intent to Su¢o the EEOC on October 16,
2014. Am. Compl. § 17. Different exhaustion rules therefore apply. The notice of mser t
must be provided to the EEOC “within 180 days s allegedly discriminatory act.Rann v.
Chaqg 346 F.3d 192, 195 (D.C. Cir. 200®)iting 29 U.S.C 8§ 633a(c), (d)) Counting back 180
daysfrom October 16, 2014ringsus to April 19, 2014 .Therefore, claims arising from discrete
acts thabccurredon April 8 were not properly presented to the EEO.

But what about the previous point that Moore may not have discovered the discriminatory

act until after April 19?While, as explained abovthe 45day period in which to contact an EEO

6 “A court may consider an EEOC complaint . . . without converting a motion to gisntésa
motion for summary judgment because such records are public documents of wbigt may take
judicial notice.” Ndondji v. InterPark Inc768 F. Supp. 2d 263, 272 (D.D.C. 2011) (internal quotation
marks and alteration omitted).

"In particular: claim (pYhat HUD refused to provide Moore with 80 hours affal classroom
training; claim (i)that HUD refused tox@cute a written PMF Participant Agreement for Moore; claim (m)
that HUD refused to assist Maoin completing an IDP; claim (that HUD refused Moore’s IDRynd
claim (q)that HUDrefused to provide Moore with a PMF developraéassignment consistent tvihis
IDP.
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counselor may be extended for an aggrieved pesarishows that her she did not know and
reasonably should not have e [sic] known that the discriminatory matter or personal action
occurred,” 29 (F.R.8 1614.105(a)(2)the 180daystatutorytime period is less flexibleThe 180

day time periods subject toequitable tolling‘only in extraordinary and carefully circumscribed

circumstances.”_Breen v. PeteB29 F. Supp2d 24, 26(D.D.C. 2008). And the burden of

persuasion is on éhparty requesting that a statytdeadline be equitably tolledd. at 27. Moore
has not responded to the government’s argument that his claims based onrdisanynavents
thatoccurredoefore April 19 are barredBecause Moore has not presented an argument as to why
his claims based on events that occurred outside thémstatdeadline should nonetheless be
considered timely, the Court will dismiss those cla{aescribed in footnote 4 supra p. 14).

Further—and again—-HUD asserts that Moore failed to present six of his ARANs—
largely grievances rekad to Moore’s worlassignments-to the EEOCS HUD is correct that these
claims were not described Moorés “Notice of Intent to Sug seeEx. 1 to Am. Compl[12-1]
at 2-4; theyare therefore unexhaustéd

T——

Hence, of the twentfour actions that Moorbhas allegedverediscriminatory,many were
not administratively exhausted and shall be dismissedemating are eight claims of
discriminationbased on race and gender and twelleems of discriminatiorbased on age.

Moore’s claim of discriminatory discharge alson\sves the exhaustion analysis.

8 HUD initially listed eightsuch claims, but noted in its reply that two were mistaken. Reply at 4
n.4.

% In particular claim(r) that HUD circumvented its own predures and guidelines; claim {tat
HUD forced Mode to travel to Georgiand work out in the fietdclaim (w)that HUD orderedvoore to
work from home; claim (ofhat HUD refused to assigh Moorerentor; claim (sjhat HUD forced Moore
to travel back and forth from Tex&s Washington, D.C.; and claim (ffyat HUD ordered More not to
report to his duty station.
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2. Discrimination
To survive HUD’s motion to dismiss, Mooraust allege facts that if true would edisi
the elements of eaglemaining claimof discriminationin his complaint The essential elements
of a Title VII or ADEA “discrimination claim are that (i) the plaintiff suffered an adverse
employment action (ii) because of the plaintiff's race, color, imligsex, national origin, age, or

disability.” Baloch v. Kempthorne, 550 F.3d 1191, 1196 (D.C. Cir. 2008)n adverse

employment action is a significant change in employment status, such as hinggfdiling to
promote, reassignment with significantly different responsibilities, or asidec causing

significant change in benefits.Kline v. Berry, 404 F. pAp’x 505, 506 (D.C. Cir. 201Q(per

curiam)(internal quotation marks omitted)

a. Discriminatory dscharge(Count V)

It is plain thattermination is an adrse action that supports a claohdiscrimination
Kline, 404 F. Appk at 506. And so Moore has pled facts to establisa firstelementof this
discrimination claim Further,by claiming thatHUD’s proffered reasons for his termination are
false and thayounger, female, neAfrican-AmericanPMF employees were retain@dpore has
alsoalleged facts that could establish that his termination was because géiagdey, or raceSee
Am. Compl. § 108, 112Thesealleged facts are enough to survive a motion to dismiss because

they carsupport an inference of discriminatioBeeNurriddin v. Bolden, 674 F. Supp. 2d 6490

91 (D.D.C. 2009)(“Merely alleging that the employer’ proffered reasons fohe adverse

employment actions [arédlse may support an inference of discrimination sufficient to survive a

motion to dismiss$), aff'd, 818 F.3d 751D.C. Cir. 2016) Nichols v. Truscott, 424 F. Supp. 2d
124, 135 (D.D.C. 2006[f'One way a plaintiff can show that an adverse action gives rise to an

inference of discrimination is by demonstrating that she was treated wlifgefi@m smilarly
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situated employees who are not part of the protected¢laglJD’s motion to dismiss Moore’s

claim for discriminatory discharge will therefore be denied.

b. Disparate treatmern violation of Title VII (Count I1)

Striking the unexhaustediaims kaves Moore with eight claina$ discriminatory conduct
based on race and genderderCount 1L.2° Included in his list of disparate treatment grievances
is claim (x) for a‘discriminatoryhostile work environmerit Am. Compl. I 60(x).This*“claim,”

however, is appropriately considered later as a separate cause of &aedranklin v. Potter

600 F. Supp.@38, 77 (D.D.C. 2009) (“[DJiscrete acts constituting discrimination . . . claims are
different in kind from a hostile work environmentiof&”’ (internal quotation marks and alteration
omitted). Along similar linesseveralof Moore’sallegations of discriminatory conduamount
to no more than a restatement of ldgal causes of action. Suckaked assertions™like claim
(@) that HUD “denied or deprived Moore of equal employment opportunity in the PMF
program”—eannot survive the government’s motion to dismissSeelgbal, 556 U.S.at 678.
Moore’s litany of offensive conduct, though, includes four exhausted claims thatigorov
“sufficient factual mattef seeid., in particular:claim (c) that HUD falsified Moore’s personnel
records; claim (g) that HUD prevented him “from participating in and completiegP¥F
Program”; claim (o) that HUD “refused to assign [him] a mentor in managenaamt’claim (w)
that Moore was ordered to work from home. Am. Compl. { 60.

HUD argues that the Court should nonetheless dismiss these more detailed clauses beca
they do not amount to adverse employment actions. Defs.” Mem=-a0.28Vhen a Title VII

plaintiff rests a claim of advergnmploymentctionon aneventthat does not involve loss of pay

10 The remaining claims are: (a), (c), (9), (h), (0), (r), (w), and (x).

11n addition to claim (a), this includes claim (h) that HUD refused to apply @GgMations and
claim(r) that HUD circumventedstown procedures and guidelines.
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or benefits, the relevant question is whether the employment action resuhetenially adverse
consequences affecting the terms, conditions, or privileges of her emplogméer future
employment opportunities sutiat a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that the plaintiff has

suffered objectively tangible harmYoussef v. FBI687 F.3d 397, 401 (D.Cir. 2012) (nternal

guotation markemitted). Courts have concluded that employment actsamslar to those alleged

by Moorein his claims (0) and (ware not adverse for purposes of Title VBeeMagiera v. City

of Dallas 389 F. App’'x 433, 43-38 (5th Cir. 2010)per curiam)(being sent home from work

was not a materially adverse actioddcklyn v. Scheng-Plough Healthcare ProdSales Corp.

176 F.3d 921, 930 (6th Cir. 199@¢quiring plaintiff to work at home was not a materially adverse

employment actionSaab v. Womack, No. 670845, 2008 WL 240833, at 6 (E.D. Mich. Jan.

28, 2008) (delay in assigning a qualified mentor was not an “adverse action” for purposks of Tit
VII claim). Moore has nobfferedany explanation as to how thetionsof which he complains
were materially adverseln fact, an email exchange, attached to and referenced in Moore’s
complaint suggests that Moore’s position never entailed working from an office to begin wit
SeeAm. Compl. § 32 (referring texhibit 6);Ex. 6 to Am. Compl[ECF No. 121] at 34(“One of

our key requirements is location within commuting distance from one of severdicspegjor
airports, since the work requires fiavel constantly to different locations to perform the
inspections.”). The Court will therefore grant HUD’s motiordtsmiss these claims.

But Moore’sothertwo allegedly discriminatory actions give the Court pause. Moore has
allegedin his claim (c)that HUD falsified Moore’s personnel records to include a fraudulent SF
50 form (‘Notice of Personnel Actidh, which incorrectly statedhat Moore had no prior
creditablemilitary service and was not a preferemgigible veteran Am. Compl.{ 60(c), seeid.

11 3%#38 Because veterans are entitled to certain benefits in federal employmentatiese f
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taken as true fahe purposes of a motion to dismissouldreflecta decision causingsignificant
change in benefits and therefore state a claim of employment discriminatioare Msalso
allegedin his claim (g)that HUD prevented him “from participating in and coetplg the PMF
Program.” Id. 160(g). A fair inference from the facts alleged in Moore’s complaint islieatvas
reassigned or kept from a management position and relegated to a position wittasitiylesser
responsibilities. If true, such conduct would constitute an adverse emplogotient

Moore—by claming that HUD did not take these&tiors againsfemale andon-African-
AmericanPMF employees, Am. Compl.61—haspled sufficient facts tgupport the inference
that theactiors werebecause of his race or gend&eeNichols, 424 F. Supp. 2at 135 see also
Brady, 520 F.3d a#195. Therefore, Couniil survives the motion to dismiss as to these two claims
only.

C. Disparate treatmer violation of the ADEA (Count I)

Striking the unexhausted claims leaves Moore with twelve claims of discriminaiseal b
on age under Count I. Eight of those based on the same eight acts just discussed in the context
of Moore’s Title VIl charge For the same reasoagplained thereseveralof those are either
fatally conclusory or do not amount to advessgployment actions, but the claims relating to the
S50 and participation in the PMF program survive. Moore also has four additional diaims t
HUD did not challenge as unexhausted as to his ADEA ché@egeDefs.” Mem. at 8):
gpecifically, claim (p) that HUD refused to provide Moore with 80 hourdgoomal classroom
training; claim (q) that HUD “refused to provide Moore with a PMF developahassignment
consistent with his IDP, qualifications, educational background, and careertsitecksm (u)
that HUD prevented Moore from attending schedi®®tF events and activities; and claim (v)

that HUD “isolated Moore from his fellow PMFs.”
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I. Denial of classroomtraining

Denial of training opportunities is materially adverse only if there is a “mhtdrange in

. .. employment conditions, status, or benefit@brns v. Geithner692 F.Supp.2d 119, 133

(D.D.C. 2010) (internal quotation marks omitted) (finding that defendargfusal to allow
plaintiff to attend four training courses was not an adverse action). Mooref@sshat he was
not provided classroom training is untethered to any explanation of what thed desineng
entailed or why the training was important to his position. All that can be gleesradhis
complaint is the assertion that “HUD svabligated to provide Moore . . . 80 hours of formal
classroom training.” Am. Compl. 1 45. Because Moorenbasilleged any significant change in
hisemployment or “objectively tangible harm” as a result of not receiving t@ssoom training

hours,this claim must be dismisse&eeAllen v. Napolitano, 774 F. Supp. 2d 186, 204 (D.D.C.

2011)(dismissing claim where plaintiff had “not alleged any signiftezhange in her employment

or ‘objectively tangible harmasa result of not receiving . training opportunitiey.

il. Denial of work assignment consistent with devel opment
plan

Moore’s complaint that he was not given assignments commensurate wibPha
gualifications is similarly flawedUndesirable assignments are generally not adverse employment

actions. SeeBruder v. Chu, 953 F. Supfd 234, 24641 (D.D.C. 2013)Lester v. Natsias290

F. Supp.2d 11, 2930 (D.D.C.2003) And Moore has pled no fado show thathe assigned
work reallted in a loss of pay, benefits, or promotion possibilitidscordingly, this claim will
also be dismissed.
iii. Exclusion from PMF events and activities
There is only one incident pled with any particularity that suppgddsre’s claims that

HUD preventedhim from attending scheduled PMF events and isolated him from his fellove PMF
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That event occurred on May 12, 2014, when Moore was instructed to cancel ksslipdeled
trip . . . for a mandatory agenaeyide training event.”Am. Compl. 1 89. The weight of authority
suggests that denial of a single “travel opportunity does not constitute an advplsgnant
action unless the plaintiff can tie the alleged discriminatory employment actiomi® actual,

tangible adverse employment consenee.” Edwards v. U.S. BA, 456 F. Supp. 2d 72, 85

(D.D.C. 2006)internal quotation marks omitted). Again, Moore has not alleged that hisexcl
from this trip had an adverse impact on his employment terms or conditions or caused any
objectively tanghle harm. In fact, the email quoted by Moore in his complaint shows that HUD
expected Moore to “have the opportunity” to participate in the missed figaatia later date.”
Am. Compl. § 90. Hence, claims (u) and (v) cannot support his ADEA caustaoof @ither.
T—

This concludes, for now, the discrimination analysis. HUD’s motion to dismiss Clounts
and Il is granted in part and denied only as to Moore’s allegations that HUibnilieted against
him by falsifying his personnel records and preventing him from completing thepPddgFam.
HUD’s motion to dismiss Count V (discriminatory discharge) is denied.

3. Retaliation

To prove retaliation unddiitle VIl and the ADEA a plaintiff must showhatthe employer

took a materially adverse amti against him becausiee employednad brought or threatened to

bring a discrimination claimBaloch 550 F.3d at 1198Moore asserts several retaliation claims.

a. Retaliatory discharge (Count V)

Moore alleges thate complained about unlawful discrimination on June 10 and 24, 2014.
Am. Compl.§ 70. He asserts that he submitted an informal EEO complaint in Julya2@{l4
amended that complaint on Augustidl. 171. On September 24, 2014, Moore sayswias fired

by hisfifth line manager Delton Nichols, who had knowledge of Moore’s protected actidit§.

23



109. Hecontends that the reasons given by Nichols for terminating Moore’s emplewioent
example, Moore’s failure to follow instructions, inability to lesand negative attitudeare “false

and misleading.” Id. 1 112. These allegations suffice to establish that Moore opposed
discrimination and that HUD took a materially adverse action against BeeMassaquoi V.

District of Columbia 81 F. Supp. 3d 44, 50 (D.D.C. 2015Protected activity includes making

an informal complaint of discriminatici.

The remaining issue, then, is one of causatrdmether the facts alleged can show that
HUD terminated Moore because of Moore’s aggjaent in protectealctivity. One legitimate way
to support a causal connection between the protecteddefity and the adverse actiathe
closeness of time between the twurriddin, 674 F. Supp. 2d at 993. While courts have not
definitively “established the maximum time lapse between protectedactivity and alleged

retaliatory actions,Brodetski v. Duffey, 141 F. Supp. 2d 35, 43 (D.D.C. 20@mpuction which

occurs more than three months after the protected activity is not likely ttydaasuch a caus

inferenceseeClark Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Breeden, 532 U.S. 268, Z432001) (per curiam) (citing

with approval circuit cases finding three and four months to be too tempamalbte to establish

causation)put cf. Hamilton v. Geithner666 F.3d 13441357-58 (D.C. Cir. 2012f“[N]either the

Supreme Court nor the [D.C. Circuit] has established a blirglhthreemonth rule.”). Under the
two-month mark, courts have found an inference of retaliation more plausbée, e.g.

Brownfield v. Bair, 541 F. Supp. 2d 35, 45 (D.D.C. 20(08)ding that less than two months

between protected activity and adverse action was sufficient to establish accaursadtion);

Goos v. Nat'l Ass’n of Realtor315 F.Supp. 2, 4 (D.D.C1989) (finding that just over finvweeks

between the protected actiand the plaintiff’'s termination was short enough time lapse to infer a

causal connection).
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Here, more than three months passed between Moore’s first complaint opposing
discrimination in June and his termination in ®epber, but there was a less than-twonth lapse
between his amended informal complaint and his termination. It may be apijgréprcansider
this later date in assessing temporal proximBgeBrodetskj 141 F. Supp. 2d &3 (looking at

“more recent EEO activities” to determine temporal proximgge alsiNguyen v. Mabus, 895

F. Supp. 2d 158, 186 (D.D.C. 2012ame). Andhat less than twemonth gap could support an
inference ofcausation However, the Court need not rely only on temporal proximiguggport
an inference that Moomwas fired due to his protected activibecause Moore has also disputed
HUD’s explanation for terminating him. If, as Moore contends, the reasonenedifly HUD are
false, then a reasonable inference could exist that the decision to fire hirataledary. See

Harris v. D.C. Water & Sewer Auth791 F.3d 65, 6970 (D.C. Cir. 2015) Therefore, with respéc

to the plaintiff'sclaim of retaliatory dischaye, the defendants’ motida dismisswill be denied.

b. Other allegedly retaliatory actions (Count IlI)

Moore also brings retaliation claims based on allegations of various unfavorable
developments at work throughout the summer of 20%de Am. Compl. {172-76. But the
majority of these claims were not exhaustéd he only actions raised in Moore’s complaint that
he previously identified as retaliatory were HUD’s refusal to assign Immargor in management,
HUD’s mandate that he work from home, and HUD’s decision to assigrahiomdesirable
position SeeEx. 41 to Pl.’s Opp’n to Defs.” Mot. to Dismisd 3L; Ex. Y to Defs.’ Notice of

Filing Exs.at 47. Although the Courtasconcluded above thawo of these actionsdo not

12This includesvioore’s claims that HUD retaliated against him by (1) refusing to execute a written
PMF Participant Agreement, Am. Compl. 1 72; (2) refusing to assist him tpletenan IDP and approve
it, id.; (3) refusing to providéim with an appropriate PMF developmardssignment, i¢l(4) refusing to
provide him with 80 hours of formal classroom trainiialy,f] 74; 6) refusing to provide a developmaht
assignment consistent with his IDB.; and (§ forcing him into the UPC3nspection Certification
Training,id.
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constitute adverse actions for purposes of establishing a disparate tredisaranination claim,
the Court must undertake a sepagatalysis in the retaliation context because what constitutes an
adverse action under Title V#'antiretaliation provision is different than what constitutes an

adverse action under the antidiscrimination provisi8arlington N. & Santa Fe Ry. v. White

548 U.S. 53, 57, 67 (2006).

“Unlike in the discrimination context, thecope of the antietaliation provision extends
beyond workplaceelated or employmentlated retaliatory acts and harraridtherefore, it does
not require a materially adverse change in the terms and conditions of eraptbyMorales v.
Gotbaum 42 F. Supp. 3d 175, 196 (D.D.C. 2014) (citation omitted) (quoting Burlingtob48.
U.S. at 67. “But the concept is not unlimitedndactionable retaliation stilloes not include
trivial harms.” Id. To be materially adverse, the employer’s action must be one which would
“dissuade] a reasonable worker from making or supporting a charge of discrimiriation.
Burlington N, 548 U.S. at 6§internal quotation marks omitted). Under this standasdigning
Moore a mentor not to his liking is not a materially adverse action. Rathavimgae mento—
or supervisor or team member for that mattgrho does not align with one’s preferences is a
common workplace frustration. Itis not the sort of adverse action that would dissaadereable
worker from making a charge of discriminatiddf. Saal) No. 0710845, 2008 WL 240833, at *5
Hence, Moore’s allegation that HUD assigned him an inappropriate mentor cannot support
retaliation claim.

His otherretaliation claims fail as well. Even assuming that being required to work from
home and receiving undesirable assignments could dissuade a reasonable workeakirgm
charge of discrimination, Moore’s retaliation claim cannot survive the gmest’'s motion to

dismiss because it is clear from the face of his complaint that he cannot shaalacoanection
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between these actions and his protected activity. His complaint alleges theg bedered not to
report to his duty station in Fort Worth in April 2014. Am. Compl.  83. And he did not return to
that duty station after the week of April 21, 201d. 1 85. In his claim that HUD retaliated against
him by ordering him to work at home, Moore reiterates “he wasn'’t allowed to wdrik duty
staion.” Id. f 76. Because the existing status quo in April alesadythat Moore had been
ordered not to report to his duty station, it is “factually impossible” forthiprove that he was
ordered to work from home in retaliation for protected actithigt took place in JuneSee

Ramseur v. Pere®62 F. Supp. 2d 21, 29 (D.D.C. 2018¢e alsdMassaquqi81 F. Supp. 3d at

50 (“For the purposes of the Court’s analysis of the plaistifiitie VIl retaliation claim then, any
alleged materially adversenployment action that occurred before the plaintiff complaineds. . .
irrelevant.”) Similarly, Moore’s complaint establishes that he was already “being ftwogdrk
undesirable assignmentséfore he engaged in protected activithat grievance, in fact, was the
subject of his protected activity.e8Am. Compl. § 70

Therefore, the government’s motion to dismiss Moore’s retaliation claim wdrdsed
as to the discrete actions alleged in Count Ill.

4. Hostile work environment (Count V)

Moore alleges that beginning in March 263#hich isbeforehe began work at HUD in
late Apri—he was subjected to a discriminatory and retaliatory hostile work environmenathat w
“vicious, severe, pervasive, offensive, degrading, and humiliating” and “continued eotialnatil
his termination. Am. Compl. 11 26803. To prevail on his hostile work environment claim, Moore
must show that he “was subjecteddiscriminatory intimidation, ridicule, and insult that was
sufficiently severe or pervasive alter the conditions of [higmployment and creat@& abusive

working environment. Brooks v. Grundmann, 748 F.3d 1273, 126C. Cir. 2014)internal
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guotation marks and alterations omitted). Conduct meeting this standard can amoalmtiomet

Baird v. Gotbaum, 662 F.3d 1246, 1280C. Cir. 2011). To ddermine whether a hostile work

environment exists, the court looks to the totality of the circumstances, includiingghency of
the discriminatory conduct, its severity, its offensiveness, and whethaterferes with an
employee$ work performance. Baloch 550 F.3dat 1201 “To assert a claim for hostile work
environment, the plaintiff must demonstrate some linkage between the hostN@beina the

plaintiffs membership in a protected clasS¢ott v. Dist. Hosp. Partners, L.P., 60 F. Supp. 3d

156, 164 (D.D.C. 2014) (internal quotation marks omitted), or in the case of a retaliatdiy hosti
work environment, “a causal connection between the harassment and [the] proteeisd’ acti

Graham v. Holder, 657 F. Supp. 2d 210, 216 (D.D.C. 2009).

To the extent that Moore relies on discrete adverse actions, he misunderstands éhe natur
of a hostile work environment claimSeeAm. Compl. § 83 (ordered to never report to duty
station);id. 186 (forced to work out in the fieldd. 195 (@arnishment ofvage3. “A hostile work
environment . . must be based on ‘one unlawful employment practice’ of pervasive, insulting,
discriminatory onduct that makes the plaintiffs dégday work environment severely

‘abusive.” Rattigan v. Gonzale$03 F.Supp.2d 56, 82 (D.D.C2007) (quotingNat'l| R.R.

Passenger Corp. v. Morgd86 U.S. 101, 1172002). “Cobbling together a number of distinct,

disparate acts will not create a hastivork environment, becausésciete acts constituting
discrimination or retaliation claims are different in kind from a hostile work enmient claind.
Franklin,600 F.Supp. 2dat 77 (internal quotations and alterations omitted).

But beyond Moore’s repetition of the discrete actions that form the basis of Coudts | a

II, his hostile work environment claim in Count IV also alleges verbal harassmentaikis that:
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On April 28, 2014, Dilip Patel “verbally reprimanded, humiliated, degraded and
embarrassed Moore in front of a building inspector and others because Moore did
not know what a ‘GFI' was.” Am. Compl. 1 86.

On May 20, 2014, Jose BosgRerez “verbally reprimanded him for errors on
reports . . ., scolded him that he should have known by then how to complete the
reports, placed his hand in front of Moore’s face to silémee. . . , ordered Moore

to look at him when he is talking, and escalated the situation to the point where
Moore began crying.d. 1 92.

“From June 2014 through September 2014, Dilip Patel, Brian Ruth, and Delton
Nichols, respectively, made offensivenda insulting remarks or comments
suggesting that Moore worked too slow, suffered from memory loss, had a learning
inability, and could not sufficiently comprehend the exercises in the UPCS

Inspection Certification Training because of his agé.”] 88.

It is this third example of alleged harassment that most concerns the Gblbtargues

that even assumirgyl these allegations are true, they “would still not be sufficient for a finding of

hostile work environment.” Defs.” Mem. &6. The cases cited by HUD, however, are

distinguishable Seeid. In Stewart v. Evanghe D.C. Circuit found that plaintiff's claim amounted

“to only one isolated incident.” 275 F.3d 1126, 1134 (D.C. Cir. 2002). Here, Moore has alleged

that he wasubjected to multiple offensive comments regarding his age over-anfmoth period.

And the dismissal of the hostile work environment claim in the other case citddbylepended

on that court’s finding that the evidence was insufficiseaeWare v. Hyédt, 80 F. Supp. 3d 218,

229-30 (D.D.C. 2015)-an inquiry that the Court can only conduct upon consideration of the

government’s alternative motion for summary judgm@étil, it is true that “not just any offensive
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or discriminatory conduct rises to an actionable hostile work environméhirtiddin, 674 F.
Supp. 2d at 93. For this reason, the Court doubtghbdirst two examplesffered byMoore—
workplace reprimands, more or lesare enough to show a hostile work environmefee
Rattigan 503 F. Supp. 2d at 82 (“Plaintiff must show far more than . . . occasiorabloff
remarksor criticisms and snubs or perceived slights to establish a hostile work environment.”);

Bell v. Gonzales398 F. Supp. 2d 78, 92 (D.D.C. 2005) (holding that the spows@iof abusive

language is insufficient to establish a hostile work environmetowever, because his claim of
a hostile work environment in violation of Title VII fails at summary judgment, asusked
below, the Court will assume these allegationsotal are sufficient to state a claim. Further,
Moore has alleged HUD did not subject female andAnican-American employees to the same
hostile workplace. At the motion to dismiss stage, that is enough tarstthe harassment was
because of racand gender.

In addition, Moore’sallegations of abuse because of age in the third bullet pbonte
support a claim for a hostile work environment in violation of the ADEA. Whieparties’
evidencemay reveal that thalleged misconduct does not rise to the level of severity or
pervasiveness called for by the law or was not discriminatory, the caaslsttd is sufficiently
offensive and frequent to survive a motion to dism&seScott 60 F. Supp. 3d dt65(Allegations
of “tirades of abusive and degrading comments” were “just barely suffitctesatisfy [the
plaintiff's] burden at this stage to plead facts that, taken as true, allowdasanable inference
of a violation of Title VII for hostile work environment.” (alterations omittedd)reasonable juror
could conclude based on the comments themselves that the alleged abuse was bagause of

Moore’s claim of a retaliatory hostile work environment, though, is weakebsthuse

the amended complaiasserts tht the abuséegan his “first day on duty,” Am. Compl. 1-83
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months prior to his engagement in any protected actihatyd “continued unabated” until his
termination,id.  103. Because Moore’s complaint does not plead facts that could establish
causation,his retaliatory hostile work environment claim will be dismisseSee Bryant v.
Brownlee 265 F. Supp. 2d 52, 70 (D.D.C. 20Q3plaintiff s concession thahé ostracism
preceded plaintif§ protected activity is fatal to her retaliation claim as it vtuts proof of

causation.”);Batson v. Powell, 912 F. Supp. 565, 576 (D.D.C. 1996) (holding an “inference of

causation [was] improper” where theame alleged ‘harassment’ and ‘hostile work environment’
existed prior to plaintiffsengaging in the protected activity

. Motion for Summary Judgment

To summarize at this point, Moore has stated a claim for (1) discriminatiomdesuirace,
age, and gender based on his termination, HUD’s falsification of his personmdbtresw HUD's
refusal to allow him to complete the PMF program; for (2) rdtatiadbased on his termination;
and for (3) a hostile work environment because of race, age, and gender. HUD has moved in the
alternative for summary judgment. Moore objects that the “motion for sumoaggnent in the
alternative is premature” becausa]{ discovery has been taken, and Moore has a substantial need
to conduct discovery.” Pl.’s Opp’n to Defs.” Mot. to Dismiss (Pl.’s Opp’n) [ECF No. 29]-at 32
33.

The party opposing summary judgment “ha[s] the burden to state with ‘sufficient

particularity. . . why discovery [is] necessary.’Ikossi v. Dept of Navy, 516 F.3d 1037, 1045

(D.C. Cir. 2008) (quotingStrang v. U.S. Arms Control & Disarmament Agend§4 F.2d 859,

861 (D.C.Cir. 1989). If the opposing party “aghjuately explains why, at thi@nepoint, it cannot
present by affidavit facts needed to defeat the motion,” then “a omayideny a motion for
summary judgment” and permit discovergtrang 864 F.2d at 861But even at this early stage,
a district court may deny a request for disenry and grant a motion for summary judgment when
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the nommoving party “offer[s] no reasonable basis to suggest that discovery” willdogats

claims. Campenter v. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass, 174 F.3d 231, 23738 (D.C.Cir. 1999). With these

principles inmind, the Court turns to defenddmsotionfor summary judgmerdn theremaining
claims

A. Legal Standard

Summary judgment is appropriate where “there is no genuine disputeaag toaterial
fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of leved. R. Civ. P. 56(a).To
demonstrate a “genuine dispute,” a fmoaving party must put forth more thtre “mere existence

of a scintilla of evidence” to support its positioAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242,

252 (1986).Indeed, “[b]y pointing to the absence of evidence proffered by thenowmng party,
a moving party may succeed on summaggment.” Lester 290 F.Supp.2d at20. And the
moving party may also succeed where the-mmving party sets out evidence that is “merely
colorable, or is not significantly probativeAnderson477 U.S. at 24¢citation omitted) But the
Court mus view all evidence in the light most favorable to the-nwwving party, and must draw
“all justifiable inferences” in his favorld. at 255.

B. Discrimination

Moore’s discrimination claims are properly analyzed under the famifiaDonnell

Douglas burdemhifting framework. SeeFord v. Mabus629 F.3d 198, 201 (D.CCir. 2010)

(applyingMcDonnell Douglago an ADEA claim). After a plaintiff establishes a prima facie case
of employment discrimination, “[tjhe burden then must shift to the employartitulate some

legitimate, nondiscrimatory reason for the employseaejection.” McDonnell Douglas Corp. v.

Green411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973)f the employer does so, the burden shifts again, requiring the

plaintiff to demonstrate that the employetstated reason. . was in fact pretext.’ld. at 804.
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But, as the D.C. Circuit has instructed, “where an employee has suffered aseadve
employment action and an employer has asserted a legitimatdiscominatory reason for the
decision, the distriatourt need net-and shouldhot—decide whether the plaintiff actually made

out a prima facie case unddcDonnell Douglas Brady v. Office of Sergeant at Arns20 F.3d

490, 494 (D.C. Cir. 2008)instead, the case is reduced to “one central questiorthelamployee
produced sufficient evidence for a reasongbly to find that the employes’ asserted nen
discriminatory reason was not the actual reason and that the employer intgndigneminated
against the employee on the basis of race [or adé]?Thus, “to survive summary judgment the
plaintiff must show that a reasonable jury could conclude from all of the eeidleaicthe adverse

employment decision was made for a discriminatory reasbathram v. Snow336 F.3d 1085,

1088 (D.C.Cir. 2003).
1. Discriminatory discharge (Count V)

HUD asserts legitimate negtiscriminatory reasons for terminating Moore: he “was
removed because of misconduct and poor performance” incluentiaiure to complete the
[UPCY certification process.” Defs.” &tement of Material Facts Not in Genuine Dispute [ECF
No. 201] at § 47;seeDefs.” Reply at 67. These reasons were provided in Moore’s Notice of
Termination. Ex. Q to Defs.” Notice of Filing Exs. [ECF No-Z2t 3134. As proof that Moore
did not complete required training, HUD has submitted an email sent by Moore on June 10, 2014,
“to make it emphatically and unambiguously clear that [he did] not wish toibedras a Quality
Assurance Inspector and [had] no desire to spend even one more day in such trainingtd Ex. O
Defs.’ Notice of Filing Exs. [ECF No. 22] at 18. Further, a screenshot provided by HUD shows
that as of September 15, 2014, Moore had last attempted to even access the traingsg exerc

August 18, 2014. Ex. S to Defs.’ Notice of Filing Exs. [ECF Ne2pat 4641. At that time his
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course certification showed an exercise that was incomplete. BecauseHUD has offered
Moore’s failure to complete required training agason for thadverseemployment action,e.,
his dschargethe Court considersnly whetherMoore has shown that a reasonable jury could
infer thatthis nondiscriminatory reason was falsBrady, 520 F.3d at 493-94.

A plaintiff canestablish an inference that his employer’s-dtriminatory reason for the
relevant employment action was pretext by presenting evidence that theyentmated other

employees more favorably in the same factual circumstaheesent v. Bureau of Rehalnc,

544 F.Supp.2d 17, 22 (D.D.C2008). In his complaint, Moore identified ten “PMF employees”
who he alleged were treated more favorably. Am. Compl. 11 61, 66. To prove that haitysimil
situated to these employees, Moore mukdnionstrate that all of the relevant aspectfhisi
employment situation were nearly identical to $koof the” allegedly comparabmployes.

Holbrook v. Reno, 196 F.3d 255, 261 (D.C. Cir. 1999).

Moore’s evidence regarding these comparators includes several chartiethidy each
alleged comparator by agace, and gender. Exs-I to Pl.’s Opp’'n [ECF No. 31] at 4-23.
The charts further indicate whether these individuals engaged in protected &ctwviy; what
firm job offer they received (PMF); whether they executd®M participant agreement gl
whether they were terminated (no); whether they were offered an “existaminpqyes); whether
they were offered a “construction specialist” targeted position (no); whibignereceived proper
treatment under OPM and PMF program procedures (yes); whether HUD hadear tieeid skills
(yes); and whether they received a letter of acceptance (dedyloore has also provided the-SF
50 forms for these ten employees. Exs-32to Pl.’'s Opp’n [ECF No. 32] at 5-23. The forms
show that they were all appointed as PMFs and assigned duty stations in WashingtomdD.C., a

San Franciscad.—not Forth Worth like Moore, Ex. 32 to PI's Opp’n [ECF No-dlat 25. HUD
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has responded with its own chart to show the many ways in which these ten emateyexs
similarly situated. Ex. FF to Defs.’ Reply [ECF No. 40-1] at 9. HUD’s subonssonfirms that
none of these ten individuals was assigned a duty station of Fort Worth nor did they hold the
position of construction analystd.

Moore’s attempt teestablish an inference of pretext by pointing to the more favorable
treatment of other HUD employees fails because the evidence dassafdish a genuine dispute
that the proffered comparator employees are similarly situated to himed BasMoore’sown
evidence, these individuals were not assigned to work in Fort WArtt.there is no basis the
recordto find that these individuals shared his position, work responsibilities, or superasor
alone also failed to complete required training. Hence, no reasonable jury could infer
discrimination from théact that HUD treated thesiferenty situated employees differently from
Moore.

The question that remains is whether the Court may grant HUD’s motion for symmar
judgment before Moore has had the opportunity to cardiacovery in this arealo obtain time
for discovery, amonmovanimust submit an “affidavit or declarati¢gshowing]that, for specified
reasons, [he] cannot present facts essential to justify [his] oppositted.R. Civ. P. 56(d). The
declarationrmust “outline the particular facts he intends to discover and describe wdeyfduis
are necessary to the litigation,” explain why he could not produce those facts, and lighow t

information is in fact discoverable.Convertino v. U.S. Dep’of Justice 684 F.3d 93, 99100

(D.C. Cir. 2012).
Moore has not submitted such an affidavit. But that is not fatal because “in theeatisenc
an affidavit, courts may nonetheless postpone summary judgment if additional ifilitiee case

have served as the functional equivalent of an affidavit and informed the courtrtihat f
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discovery is needed.Hicks v. Gotbaum 828 F. Supp. 2d 152, 159 (D.D.C. 201Moore has

repeatedly expressed his belief that discovery is necessary in this $asd?l.’'s Mot. for
Clarification [ECF No. 51] at43 (seeking clarification whether discovery would be permitted);
Pl.’s Mot. for Sanctions [ECF No. 46] at-3B (submitting a proposed joint discovery plan); Pl.’s
Statement of Genuine Disputes [ECF No. 30] at 1 (arguing that “Defendants’ Mbtiald e
denied—at least until Moore is able to or is afforded the opportunity to conduct discoverig); Pl
Opp'n at 32 (“Defendants’ motion for summary judgment in the alternativerisapuee . . . ."):3

Moore’s use of additional filings rather than an affidavit or declarataihd be sufficient,
but such filings still must: (19utline the particular facts he intends to discover and describe why
those facts r@ necessary to the litigation; (2) explaulny he could not produce the facts
opposition to the motion for summary judgment; and (3) show the information is in fact
discoverable Converting 684 F.3d at 9910Q The Court has searched Moore’s many filings that
express a need for discovery. None meets even the first criterion to desefibarticular facts”
he intends to discover and explain why those faetsiacessary to the litigation.

For example, to succeed on his disparate treatment claims, Moore must pidifortrl$/
situated”employees. The only possibly related discovery Moore seeks is to explomeeitjand
former employees of HUD who possess relevant knowledge and information includarg eund
former Presidential Management Fellows” “in further factual developméns afaims related to

the aboveadentified genuine disputes.” Pls.” Statement of Genuine Disputes [ECF No. 30] { 59.

13 0On November 112015,Moore filed a motion for sanctions against defendants for their failure
to conduct a case management conference and complete a proposed discoverysléot. fB Sanctions
[ECF No. 46]. Attached to that motion was Moore’s proposed joint discovery lgaat 34. While the
Court denied Moore’'s motion for sanctions, Order, Jan. 14, 2016 [ECF Noth&2{ ourt has still
considered the proposed discovery plan in deciding whether disaharld beallowed prior to resolving
defendants’ motion for summary judgment.
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Thesé€[c]onclusory allegations without any supporting facts are not sufficienstdy additional
discovery” as to Moore’s claim afiscriminatory dischargeHicks, 828 F. Supp. 2d at 158ee

Turner v. U.SCapitol Police 34 F. Supp. 3d 124, 1387 (D.D.C. 2014)granting defendant’s

motion for summary judgment prior to discovery where plaintiff made generaittiagssthat
discoverywas necessary to determine “whether Defendants treated similarly situditeduials
outside Plaintiff's protected age category more favorably” (alterstamitted)) Accordingly,
here summary judgment on Moore’s surviving discrimination claims isawiad without the need

for discovery. See Dunning v. Quanderb,08 F.3d 8, 10 (D.CCir. 2007) @ffirming summary

judgment for the defendant because plaintiff “failed to provide any persuasive feaseeding

discovery”); see alshlessina v. Krakower, 439 F.3d 755, 762 (D3@. 2006).

2. Falsification of personnel records (Counts| & I1)

Moore asserts in Counts | and Il that HUD discriminated against him byyhadgihis
personnel records to include a fraudulent SF-50 form, which incorrectly statédiodia had no
prior creditable military service and was not a preferesliggble veteran. Am. Compl. I 60(c);
id. 1 69 (realleging the claims in paragraph 60). HUD admits that it “initially misicddeore]
as a norveteran.” Defs.” Mem. a22. But even assuming that the miscoding was intentional,
Moore still mustprovide evidencehat the falsification constituted a decision that caused a
“significant change in benefitsn order tosurviveHUD’ssummary judgmennotion SeeKline,

404 F. Appk at 506.

Moore seems to suggest that had he been properly credited for his militare $ervic
rather than nowveteran candidateswould have received an offer for a PMF position. PlIs.’
Statement of Genuine Disputes { 26 (asserting that during his employmewneteams received

firm job offers for the position Presidential Management Fellow). The problem for Mobia is t
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there is no genuine dispute thatdie receive a PMF offer. Attached to Moore’s complaint is the
offending SF50 that indicated no “creditable military service” and no veterans’ preferexc&. E
to Am. Compl. [ECF No. 1-A] at 39. And that same document lists his position title as
“presidential mgmt fellow.”1d. Another one of Moore’s exhibits is the “official list of finalists
for the PMF class of 2013,” which lists Moore as a finalist. Ex. 3 to Am. Compl. [ECEN.]
at 16. Therefore, based on Moore’s evidence alone, it cannot be disputed that he didareceiv
PMF offer. Furthermore, in Moore’s appeal to the Merit Systems PanteBtard, in which he
argued hat he had not been classified as a veteran, the administrative judge foundahahit
“suffered no harm as a result of the agency’s mistaBe€Ex. D to Defs.” Notice of Filing Exs.
[ECF No. 221] at 22. Having nonetheless received the benefit that would flow from his veteran
status, the misinformation in Moore’s -8B cannot constitute an adverse employment action. The
Court again concludes that granting summary judgment to HUD on this issue is psptr de
Moore’s lack of opportunity for discovery. He has identified no discoverybatd or could
create a dispute as to whether he was offered a PMF position. His own evidaiready
conclusive on that point.

3. Exclusion from PMF program (Counts| & 11)

Moore’s claim that HUD discriminated against him by preventing him from participating
in the PMF program fails for the same reasons the previous two discrimiokaiios fail. First,
there is no genuine dispute that Moore was a participant in the PMF program. Sedbed, t
extent that More was kept from PMF activities and ultimately removed from the program, HUD
has provided legitimate, nafiscriminatory reasons for its actions that Moore fails to rebut. HUD

is therefore entitled to summary judgmenttds claim of discriminatioas well*

14 Moore’s _gendediscrimination claims fail for the additional reason that he has not shown
“additional background circumstances that support the suspicion that [HitH&] isiusual employer who
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C. Retaliation
Moore’s clam of retaliatory discharg€Count V) must also be evaluated undéne

McDonnell Douglagramework. SeeMorgan v. Fed. Home Loan Mort@.orp.,328 F.3d 647,

651 (D.C.Cir. 2003). To establish a prima facie case of retaliation, a pfamust show that (1)
he engaged in a statutorily protected activity, (2) a reasonable employee werilfibinad the
challenged action materially adverse, and (3) there existed a causal connettieenbthe
protected activity and the materially adverse acti8eeBurlington N, 548 U.S. at 6469. As
with discrimination claims, if the employer successfully presents a legitimateetatiatory
reason for its actions, “the presumption raised by the primadasis rebutted and drops from

the casé. St. Mary's Honor Ctr. v. Hicks, 509 U.S. 502, 507 (1993) (citation and internal

guotation marks omitted).

Again, HUD has provided a legitimate reason for Moore’s terminatibis failure to
complete required training. To rebut this explanation, Moore must demork&iatereasonable
jury could find that HUD’s asserted noetaliatoryreason was not the actual reas@nady, 520
F.3d at 494. There is no direct evidence that Moore’s termination was retaleatdrgyo Moore
must rely on evidence from which a rettigy motive could be inferred. To the extent Moore
wants to show a causal link based on the fact that HUD “did not terminate PMFs’ praptoy
who did not engage in EEO activity,” Pls.” Statement of Genuine Disputes 52, umseatdails
to survive summary judgment due to the same absence of evidence, discussed above, that the
retained PMFs were at all similarly situated. And while temporal proximity leetie protected

events and his termination can support an inference of causation, Moore must pesi¢ue

discriminates against the majorityBryant v. Leavitt 475 F. Supp. 2d 12526 (D.D.C. 200Y (internal
guotation marks omittegd3eeMastro v. Potomac Elec. Power Co., 447 F.3d 843:85{D.C. Cir. 2006).
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evidence beyond mere proximity” to create a genuine issue of materiabfazgrning whether

the motive for his discharge was poor work performance or retaliation. Woodruff \s, P&2r

F.3d 521, 52930 (D.C. Cir. 2007). Moore has offered no such evidence, nor explained what
discovery he seeks to make this showing. Therefore, the Court will grabtsHiummary
judgment motion as to the retaliatory discharge claim in Count V.

D. Hostile Work E nvironment

Finally, we reach Moore’s last surviving claim, the allegation in Count IV thatdse w
subjected to a discriminatory hostile work environmeht establish a prima faccase for a
hostile work environment claim, a plaintiff must show that: “(1) he is a memhbepodtected
class; (2) havas subjected to unwelcome harassment; (3) the harassment occurred because of the
plaintiff’s protected status; (4) the harassment affected a term, condition, or privilege of
employment; and (5) the employer knew or should have known about the haradsuent,

nonetheless failed to take steps to prevenBaloch v. Norton355 F.Supp.2d 246, 259 (D.D.C.

2005),aff'd sub nomBaloch v. Kempthorne, 550 F.3d 1191, 1201 (D.C. Cir. 20@8®urts must

look at the totality of the circumstances whaaterminingwhether a hostile work environment
exists including“the frequency of the discriminatory conduct; its severity; whether it isipaljy
threatening or humiliating, or a mere offensive utterance; and whether it amabjsinterferes

with anempbyee’s work performance.Faragher v. City of Boca Ratph24 U.S. 775, 78788

(1998)(internal quotation marks omitted)
The Court concludethatMoore’sclaim of a hostile work environment based on age is not
ripe for summary judgment at this timgn its motion to dismiss this claiilUD reliesprimarily

on the argument thatven assuming the facts alleged are true, Moore has failed to state a claim for
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a hostile work environment. Defs.’ Reply at 1516; Defs.’” Mem. at 3136. The comments
allegedby Moore, to be sure, are not among the most severe workplace outbursts based on age.
But the alleged conduct may still have been pervasive enough to create an abusing worki
environment based on ag&Vithout further details regarding these allegeddents, the Gurt
cannotdetermine whether Moore’s offensiveorking conditions as allegedyvere sufficiently

severe or pervasive to creaiestile workplacdiability underthe ADEA SeeNa'im v. Rice 577

F. Supp. 2d 361, 378 (D.D.C. 2008) (denying summary judgment where both parties failed to

specify the frequency of the allegedly derogatory remasie®);alsddunt v. Cromartie526 U.S.

541, 552 (1999) Bummary judgment in favor of the party with the burden of persuasiors. . .
inappropriate when the evidence is susceptible to different interpretatiosrences by the trier

of fact”). What tips the scale against defendants’ summary judgment request under #hésADE
the explicitly agerelated content of the alleged abuse. Specifically, Moore alleges that his
supervisors made insulting comments suggesting that he worked too slowlyedufiem
memory loss, and could not understand his assignments “because of his age.” Am. G8mpl.
That is enough for nowo create a genuine issue of material fact.

The same cannot be said for Moorelaim that he was subjected to a hostile work
environment because of race or gender. It is important in hostile work environasest to
exclude from cosideration actions that “lack a linkage of correlation to the claimed ground of
discrimination. Otherwise, the federal courts will become a court of personnel app&aiaht,

265 F.Supp2d at63(internal quotation marks omittedeeBaloch 550 F.3d at 1201 (considering

whether comments or actions “expressly focused on [plaintiff's] racgiaml age, or disability”).

1SHUD also pointed to Moore’s retraction in an email to the human resourcagrdept where he wrote he
“was not filing a hostile work environment claim in my email in the lsgase of the meaning.” Defs.” Mem. at 34.
But the Court does not see what follows from this fact. That Madnead intend to make a formal charge of a hostile
work environment at that time does not establish that one did not exist.

41



Unlike Moore’s recitation of ageelated insults, he has made no similar allegations of mace
gendettinged harassmentAnd once again, the assertion that HUD did not treat other employees
in the same way does not get him past summary judgment wetioléncehat these employees
were indeed similarly situated he Cout, therefore, will grant HUD’s summary judgment motion
as to the claim that Moore was subjected to a hostile work environment becaiseace and
gender. The motion will be denied, however, as to his ADEA hostile work environment clai
CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Court will deny [53] plaintiff's motion to disqu#hiéy
undersignegudge andwill grantin part and deny in part [20] defendants’ motion to dismiss the
complaint or in the alternative for summary gugent. Rferdants’ motion will be denied as to
Moore’s claim that HUD subjected him a hostile work environment in violation of the ADEA
The motion will be granted in all other respedtsseparate mler will issue.
/sl

JOHN D. BATES
United States District Judge

Dated: June 17, 2016
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